
 

  
 

Council 
Agenda 

 
 

 

Date: 
 
Venue: 

Wednesday 20 March 2024 at 6.00 pm 
 
Baptist Tabernacle Auditorium, The Square, Stockton on Tees, TS18 1TE 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
1   Welcome and Evacuation Procedure 

 
 
 

2   Apologies for Absence 
 

 
 

3   Declarations of Interest 
 

 
 

4   Minutes of Council from the meetings which were held 
on 24 January and 21 February 2024 
 

(Pages 7 - 32) 
 

5   Public Question Time 
 

(Pages 33 - 34) 
 

6   Amendments to Committee for 2023/27 
 

(Pages 35 - 36) 
 

7   Members' Question Time 
 

(Pages 37 - 42) 
 

8   Forward Plan and Leader’s Statement 
 

 
 

 

Page 1



  
 

Council 
Agenda 

 
 

Members of the Public - Rights to Attend Meeting 
 
With the exception of any item identified above as containing exempt or confidential information under the 
Local Government Act 1972 Section 100A(4), members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting 
and/or have access to the agenda papers. 
 
Persons wishing to obtain any further information on this meeting, including the opportunities available   for 
any member of the public to speak at the meeting; or for details of access to the meeting for 
disabled people, please 
 
Contact:      Democratic Services Officer, Peter Bell on email peter.bell@stockton.gov.uk 

Page 2



  

KEY - Declarable interests are:- 
 
●  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) 
●  Other Registerable Interests (ORI’s) 
●  Non Registerable Interests (NRI’s) 

 
Members – Declaration of Interest Guidance 

 

 

Page 3



  

 

 

Table 1 - Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Subject Description 

Employment,  
office, trade,  
profession or  
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) 
made to the councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by 
him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election 
expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a 
firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or  
 
a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council 
—  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; 
and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and 
property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.  
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—  
(a) the landlord is the council; and  
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—     
(a) that body (to the councillor’s   knowledge) has a place of business or   land in the 
area of the council; and     
(b) either—     
(i) the total nominal value of the   securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or     
(ii)      if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners have a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 
scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a building society.

Page 4



  

 

 

Table 2 – Other Registerable Interest 

You must register as an Other Registrable Interest: 
 
a) any unpaid directorships 
 
b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are nominated or appointed by your authority  
 
c) any body  
 
(i) exercising functions of a public nature  
 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  
 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political 
party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



COUNCIL 
 
A meeting of Council was held on Wednesday 24 January 2024. 
 
Present: 
 

The Worshipful the Mayor (Cllr Jim Beall), Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr 
Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc Besford, Cllr Carol 
Clark, Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, 
Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Cllr Richard Eglington, Cllr Lisa 
Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Jason French, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr 
Clare Gamble, Cllr Ray Godwin, Cllr Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, 
Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Shakeel Hussain, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr 
Niall Innes, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Sufi 
Mubeen, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Stephen 
Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Susan Scott, 
Cllr Vanessa Sewell, Cllr Andrew Sherris, Cllr Norma Stephenson 
OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr 
Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Laura Tunney, Cllr Jim Taylor, 
Cllr Hilary Vickers, Cllr Marcus Vickers, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr 
Alan Watson, Cllr Sally Ann Watson, Cllr Paul Weston, Cllr Katie 
Weston and Cllr Barry Woodhouse. 
 

Officers: 
 

Mike Greene (CE), Garry Cummings (DCE&F,T&P), Reuben Kench 
(DoCS,E&C), Leanne Maloney-Kelly, Carolyn Nice (A,H&W), Peter 
Bell, Julie Butcher, John Devine, Ged Morton, Judy Trainer (DoCS) 
and Iain Robinson (R&IG). 
 

Also in 
attendance: 
 

Members of the Public.   

Apologies: 
 

Cllr Dan Fagan, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Mick 
Moore and Cllr David Reynard. 
 

 
COU/75/23 Welcome 

 
The Worshipful the Mayor welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the 
arrangements for the meeting. 
 

COU/76/23 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

COU/77/23 Minutes 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meetings held on 22 November 2023. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2023 be confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 
 

COU/78/23 Public Question Time 
 
Public Question submitted by Mr John McDermottroe for response by the Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration & Housing (Cllr Nigel Cooke):- 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
“On 22 November 2022 Cllr Nigel Cooke stated that "they were ready to deliver on the 
bid" however the centre once again has been sold to another private investment Co. 
Why was this allowed to happen and what will now happen to the £20M levelling up 
money? And the £10M pledged by SBC?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Housing responded with:- 
 
“Money allocated to Billingham remains available in line with the approval at Cabinet 
in February 2021. 
 
The Levelling Up Fund (LUF) bid was based on the principle of the council acquiring 
Billingham Town Centre and the utilisation of LUF funds to fund redevelopment. Over 
the last 18 months, the Council has been unable to reach agreement on acquisition 
with the then owners of centre St Modwen and in the absence of Levelling Up Funding 
at the time, needed to reassess options for redevelopment of the centre. This position 
was acknowledged by Cabinet in July 2023 along with approval for the production of a 
masterplan for Billingham town centre which is nearing completion and will be shared 
in early March. 
 
Levelling Up Funds are now available and despite the Councils attempts to secure 
ownership, the centre has been acquired from St Modwen.  The Council has had 
positive dialogue with the new owners and there is a commitment from both parties to 
work together on how best to bring about redevelopment of Billingham town centre 
utilising LUF money.” 
 
Mr John McDermottroe asked the following supplementary question:- 
 
“Is it really appropriate to use tax-payers money for the benefit of a private investment 
company?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Housing responded with:- 
 
“There is no talk of handing money over to a private investment company. It is our 
intention to work with the current owners of the town centre in order to maximise the 
investment for the benefit of the people of Billingham. As I have said positive dialog 
has already commenced with the new owners of Billingham town centre.” 
 

COU/79/23 Local Plan Five Year Review 
 
Consideration was given to a report on the Local Plan Five Year Review. 
 
The development plan (a local plan) was at the heart of the planning system, setting 
out a vision and strategy for future development of the Borough. Included within it 
were a series of policies which supported the delivery of that strategy and against 
which planning applications were assessed.  
 
Under regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012, there was a legal requirement to ‘review’ local plans at least once 
every 5 years from their adoption to ensure they remained fit for purpose. In the case 
of the Stockton-on-Tees Local Plan that is required to be complete by the 31 January 
2024.   
 

Page 8



At its meeting held on 18 January 2024 Cabinet RESOLVED that:- 
 
1. The findings and recommendations of the internal officer review of the Stockton on 
Tees Local Plan (Appendix 1 of the report) be agreed. 
 
2. The findings of the Local Plan review are made publicly available and published on 
its website. 
 
Council RESOLVED that:- 
 
3. A full update of the Stockton on Tees Local Plan commences.  
 
4. The Director of Regeneration and Inclusive Growth be authorised to commence 
work on preparatory work for a new local plan with a review of the evidence base, 
related project management activity and consultation on updated Conservation Area 
Appraisals in advance of the details on government’s new local plan process. 
 

COU/80/23 Consent Street Trading Policy Review 2024 
 
Consideration was given to a report on Consent Street Trading Policy Review 2024 
 
The report informed Cabinet of the results of a public consultation, a draft consent 
street trading policy and the proposal to designate the whole borough a consent area 
for the purposes of street trading. 
 
“Street Trading” was defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (LG(MP) Act 1982) – as “the selling or exposing 
or offering for sale of any article (including a living thing) in a street”. For the purposes 
of the Act this would include private land that the public has access to without 
payment. 
 
Under the provisions of Schedule 4, a Local Authority may designate streets within its 
borough as either: 
 
• Prohibited Streets - in which street trading is not allowed. 
• Licence Streets - in which a licence to trade is required. 
• Consent Streets - where prior consent requirements operate. 
 
In 1987, the resolution to adopt Schedule 4 of the LG(MP) Act 1982 was taken, 
members approved a list of consent streets and prohibited streets, in 1999 the current 
street trading consent conditions were agreed and in 2001 the policy was amended to 
add Yarm Lane as a prohibited street, the regime has remained largely unchanged 
since. 
 
The Council had no control in areas where it had not designated a street as either a 
consent or prohibited street. This had resulted in the Council being ineffective to 
respond to complaints associated with trading and inefficient in responding to requests 
to trade in areas where no provisions exist. 
 
In addition to this the current list of prohibited and consent streets was no longer 
relevant in redeveloped areas and was inflexible with the developing Town Centres 
and Place strategies. 
 

Page 9



Consultation was critical to ensure any changes to the street trading resolution were 
clear and transparent for businesses, members, responsible authorities and the public. 
The statutory consultation process was followed including an advert in the Evening 
Gazette dated 11 July 2023. A report containing a summary of the results of the online 
public consultation was attached to the report.  
 
Alongside the online consultation in depth discussions had helped to shape the 
revised policy and the application / determination process. These discussions had 
included: 
 
• Existing traders 
• Potential Traders 
• Voluntary Sector 
• Charity and non-profit groups 
• Parish Councillors 
• Members 
• Council Departments 
 
A copy of the revised draft consent street trading policy 2024, which outlined how 
officers would manage and review the regime including the application / determination 
process was attached to the report. 
 
The most significant changes following the consultation had been around: 
 
• Non for profit and charity fundraising (detailed at pg. 3 of the draft policy document) 
 
• DBS and convictions information (detailed at pg. 8 and Appendix 3 of the draft policy 
document) 
 
The revised policy document had been circulated for comments to all respondents to 
the consultation who provided contact details and again internally with Council 
departments. Additional responses to the revised policy were attached to the report. 
 
On 14 November 2023 the General Licensing Committee considered the revised 
policy document, no further comments were received on the policy and the Committee 
agreed and noted the report. Officers explained to members the draft policy would 
also help as a regulatory tool for nuisance pedlars at events. 
 
With regard next steps, the resolution to designate the whole borough a consent area 
for the purposes of street trading, the draft policy document and the summary of the 
consultation would be considered full Council for the final decision on 24 January 
2024.  
 
If the resolution is agreed the Council shall publish notice of the final resolution in a 
local newspaper and on the Council website advertising of the decision. (This should 
be no later than 28 days before the date of operation of the new scheme). 
 
Taking these dates into consideration it was proposed any changes would come in to 
effect after 1 March 2024. 
 
At its meeting held on 18 January 2024 Cabinet RESOLVED that:- 
 
1. The contents of this report be noted. 

Page 10



 
2. Cabinet members comments be received. 
 
Council RESOLVED that the proposed resolution to designate the whole borough as a 
consent area for the purposes of street trading be agreed. 
 

COU/81/23 Appointments 
 
Consideration was given to a report that reviewed the allocation of seats to political 
groups as prescribed by the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990. 
 
RESOLVED that the following changes and appointments be approved:- 
 
Executive Scrutiny Committee – Add Cllr Shakeel Hussain 
 
Adult Social Care and Health Select Committee - Remove Cllr Paul Weston and Add 
Cllr Stefan Barnes  
 
Place Select Committee - Remove Cllr Michelle Bendelow and Add Cllr Kevin Faulks  
 
Planning Committee – Remove Cllr Stefan Barnes and Add Cllr Shakeel Hussain 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board – Remove Cllr Kevin Faulks and Add Cllr Marcus Vickers 
 
Standards Panel – Remove Cllr Kevin Faulks and Add Cllr Tony Riordan 
 
Employee Appeals Panel – Remove Cllr Kevin Faulks and Add Cllr Tony Riordan 
 
Home Safety Association – Add Cllr John Gardner 
 
Member Advisory Panel – Remove Cllr Kevin Faulks and Add Cllr Shakeel Hussain 
 
Commemoration Working Group – Remove Cllr Sylvia Walmsley and Add Cllr Lynn 
Hall 
 
Audit and Governance Committee – Appointed - Cllr Ross Patterson  
Corporate Parenting Board  - Appointed - Cllr Mick Moore 
Schools Workforce Joint Consultative – Appointed - Cllr Elsi Hampton 
 
Moved by Councillor Eileen Johnson and seconded by Councillor Pauline Beall that 
Councillor Paul Rowling be appointed to the Children and Young People Select 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor Tony Riordan and seconded by Councillor Niall Innes that 
Councillor Lynn Hall be appointed to the Children and Young People Select 
Committee. 
 
At this point a vote took place. 
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Paul Rowling be appointed to the Children and Young 
People Select Committee. 
  

Page 11



Crime and Disorder Select Committee – The meeting was informed that Cllr Sally Ann 
Watson was withdrawing her nomination and therefore Cllr Barbara Inman was 
appointed to the Crime and Disorder Select Committee. 
 
People Select Committee – The meeting was informed that Cllr Sufi Mubeen was 
withdrawing his nomination and therefore Cllr Eileen Johnson was appointed to the 
People Select Committee. 
  
Hartlepool Power Station Community Liaison Committee – Appointed - Cllr Paul 
Rowling 
 
Standing Advisory Council of Religious Education – Cllr Lisa Evans 
Teesside and District Society for the Blind – Appointed - Cllr Shakeel Hussain 
 
Moved by Cllr Rowling and seconded by Cllr Johnson that Cllr Jim Beall be appointed 
to the Ropner Trust   The meeting was informed that Cllr Lynn Hall was withdrawing 
her nomination and therefore it was resolved to remove Cllr Jim Taylor and Cllr Jim 
Beall was appointed. 
 

COU/82/23 Motion 
 
The following motion had been submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
3.40, moved by Councillor Tony Riordan, seconded by Councillor Niall Innes:- 
 
"In October 2023, the Economic Crime and Corporate Transparency Act received 
Royal Assent. This means that small companies and micro-entities, such as Stockton 
Hotels Company Limited, will have to file a profit and loss account, which with small 
companies having to also file a director’s report. This change ensures that turnover is 
available on the public register. The Bill also removes the option for companies to 
prepare abridged accounts.  
 
The requirements for a profit and loss account will be set out in regulations and will 
ensure companies are given fair warning of the changed expectations.  
 
To get ahead of the regulations and promote transparency at the very highest-level to 
our residents, Stockton Borough Council in its role as shareholder resolves, 
 
1. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of all the profit and 
loss accounts, since incorporation, and within one month, so that Stockton Borough 
Council can publish them. 
 
2. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of all the Directors 
Reports, since incorporation, and within one month, so that Stockton Borough Council 
can publish them." 
 
Moved by Councillor Bob Cook, seconded by Councillor Nigel Cooke that the 
substantive motion be amended as follows:- 
 
“Recognising the essential need for transparency across the public sector, particularly 
in organisations that directly or indirectly receive public funds, this Council 
acknowledges the recent developments in financial reporting regulations. In October 
2023, the Economic Crime and Corporate Transparency Act received Royal Assent. 
This means that small companies and micro entities, such as Stockton Hotels 

Page 12



Company Limited, will have to file a profit and loss account, with small companies 
having to also file a director's report. This change ensures that turnover is available on 
the public register. The Act also removes the option for companies to prepare 
abridged accounts. 
 
The requirements for a profit and loss account will be set out in regulations and will 
ensure companies are given fair warning of the changed expectations. 
 
In this spirit, and to set a precedent for openness and accountability, and to get ahead 
of the regulations and promote transparency at the very highest-level to our residents, 
this Council in its role as shareholder resolves: 
 
1. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of its profit and loss 
accounts so that this Council can publish them. 
  
2. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of its Directors 
Reports, so that this Council can publish them. 
 
3. To agree an annual review of our companies by Cabinet to include consideration of 
financial and operational performance. 
  
And to lead by example in promoting transparency and accountability, not only for this 
Council but also by encouraging as a constituent member of the Combined Authority 
equivalent practices, this Council resolves: 
 
4. To request the Tees Valley Mayor to adopt similar measures of transparency for the 
companies under the control, or influence of the Tees Valley Combined Authority 
including an annual review by the Combined Authority Cabinet." 
 
Following a debate, a vote took place and it was agreed that the amendment be 
carried and therefore the amendment became the substantive motion. 
 
No further amendments were moved so a vote then took place on the substantive 
motion. 
 
The substantive motion was unanimously carried as follows:- 
 
“Recognising the essential need for transparency across the public sector, particularly 
in organisations that directly or indirectly receive public funds, this Council 
acknowledges the recent developments in financial reporting regulations. In October 
2023, the Economic Crime and Corporate Transparency Act received Royal Assent. 
This means that small companies and micro entities, such as Stockton Hotels 
Company Limited, will have to file a profit and loss account, with small companies 
having to also file a director's report. This change ensures that turnover is available on 
the public register. The Act also removes the option for companies to prepare 
abridged accounts. 
 
The requirements for a profit and loss account will be set out in regulations and will 
ensure companies are given fair warning of the changed expectations. 
 
In this spirit, and to set a precedent for openness and accountability, and to get ahead 
of the regulations and promote transparency at the very highest-level to our residents, 
this Council in its role as shareholder resolves: 

Page 13



 
1. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of its profit and loss 
accounts so that this Council can publish them. 
  
2. To request Stockton Hotels Company Limited to provide copies of its Directors 
Reports, so that this Council can publish them. 
 
3. To agree an annual review of our companies by Cabinet to include consideration of 
financial and operational performance. 
  
And to lead by example in promoting transparency and accountability, not only for this 
Council but also by encouraging as a constituent member of the Combined Authority 
equivalent practices, this Council resolves: 
 
4. To request the Tees Valley Mayor to adopt similar measures of transparency for the 
companies under the control, or influence of the Tees Valley Combined Authority 
including an annual review by the Combined Authority Cabinet." 
 

COU/83/23 Motion 
 
The following motion had been submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
3.40, moved by Councillor Paul Rowling, seconded by Councillor Eileen Johnson:- 
 
"During Prime Minister's Questions on Wednesday 22nd November 2023 the Home 
Secretary James Cleverly was heard making a derogatory comment about Stockton-
on-Tees. Despite initially saying that he did not say anything inappropriate the Home 
Secretary proceeded to claim that the comment was aimed at the MP for Stockton 
North. As reported in the Sunday Mirror on Sunday 26th November, Artificial 
Intelligence has been used to clean up the recording. The cleaned-up recording 
proves that the comment was indeed aimed at our town. 
 
The comment is an outrage and an insult to all those that call Stockton-on-Tees home. 
Stockton-on-Tees, made up of Stockton, Thornaby, Billingham, Yarm, Egglescliffe, 
Norton, Ingleby Barwick, and surrounding villages, is a proud area with a rich history. 
The Home Secretary’s comments could not be a more inaccurate description of our 
area. 
 
Although the Home Secretary has apologised for “unparliamentary language” in the 
House of Commons, no such apology has been made to the residents of Stockton-on-
Tees. We the members of Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council strongly condemn the 
comments and call for the Home Secretary to make a full apology to the people of 
Stockton-on-Tees. We resolve to write to the Home Secretary to invite him to come to 
Stockton to apologise. We also extend an invitation to the MPs for Stockton North and 
Stockton South to jointly sign this letter." 
 
Members debated the motion. 
 
At this point and in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 3.65 Councillor Paul 
Rowling requested that a recorded vote be taken; which was supported by at least a 
quarter of the members present:- 
 
Members in favour of the motion:- 
 

Page 14



Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr Jim Beall, Cllr Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc 
Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Cllr 
Richard Eglington, Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare 
Gamble, Cllr Ray Godwin, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann 
McCoy, Cllr Mick Moore, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Paul Rowling, 
Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr Marilyn Surtees, 
Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr Barry Woodhouse. 
 
Members against the motion:- 
 
Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Jason French, Cllr Alex Griffiths, Cllr 
Lynn Hall, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Shakeel Hussain, Cllr Niall Innes, Cllr Sufi 
Mubeen, Cllr Stephen Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Susan Scott, Cllr Vanessa 
Sewell, Cllr Andrew Sherris, Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr 
Laura Tunney, Cllr Hilary Vickers and Cllr Marcus Vickers. 
 
Abstentions:- 
 
Cllr Alan Watson and Cllr Sally Ann Watson.  
 
The motion was carried by 29 votes for to 20 votes against and 2 abstentions. 
 

COU/84/23 Members' Question Time 
 
The following question had submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the Leader of 
the Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
 
"At the November meeting I submitted a motion and a question which were both 
rejected after the deadline. My motion was submitted on the Friday morning, and I 
received an email saying it had been rejected on the Monday. My question was 
submitted on the Wednesday and rejected the Wednesday after the deadline a full 
week later. 
 
During the many emails exchanged it became apparent that all questions and motions 
are not read until the day after the deadline, meaning any alterations to the questions 
or motions cannot be made if the Proper Officer finds them unacceptable. 
 
I believe this is unacceptable and this practice should be changed, even if this means 
bringing forward the deadline to midnight on the Thursday. 
 
Can this be put in place as the current practice leads to questions and motions being 
rejected without any opportunity to amend them? 
 
I understand that another councillor also had a question refused." 
 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
 
Thank you, Councillor Strike, for raising this issue, whilst the council procedures are 
not something that are my responsibility as leader of the council, they are as you will 
be aware matter for all members, the question does provide an opportunity to highlight 
the support that is available from our officers. 
 

Page 15



In considering how best to respond, I have asked the monitoring officer for his advice 
on this matter. Firstly, though a reminder that it is for us all as members, to ensure that 
the motions or questions we submit are in order and can therefore be considered in 
public at one of our meetings.  
 
The monitoring officer advises me that the deadline for submissions is not just 
administrative, but a requirement set out in our constitution to ensure legal compliance 
and procedural integrity. Motions and questions submitted formally to democratic 
services are assessed for compliance with our standing orders after the deadline so 
that they can be included on the council agenda. At this point, at most only minimal 
changes for example for grammatical accuracy can be made.  
 
It is a matter for us all as members to decide whether or not we wish to take advice 
from officers before formally submitting a question or motion to democratic services. 
Clearly not all questions or motions will require advice to be given, but it is a matter for 
members to decide whether or not advice is needed. If in doubt I would suggest to 
members to take advice.  
At any point before the deadline, if a member wants to submit a question or motion 
then they can ask for advice, but it is the responsibility of us all as members to ask for 
that advice when it is needed. Officers cannot be the judge as to whether or not a 
member does or does not want such advice on the wording of their question or 
motion. I would also suggest that this issue is considered at the Members Advisory 
Panel.” 
 
The following question had been submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the 
Leader of the Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
  
"In view of the current financial situation what are the council's plans, in particular the 
already agreed borrowings of approximately £140m which as yet have not been drawn 
down?" 
 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
 
“All future costs associated with Council approved borrowing have been factored into 
the Councils Medium Term Financial Plan. The authority will only borrow when there is 
a cash requirement to do so and the timings and draw down of any future loans will be 
in line with the Councils approved Treasury Management Strategy.” 
 
Cllr Ted Strike asked the following supplementary question:- 
 
“You have answered the factored in but you won’t know what the factored in price is if 
you then go and borrow another £20 million for example. Any additional borrowing will 
end up with additional costs year on year. I would suggest and I would hope that the 
Council would not do anymore borrowing until we have got that in-year deficit 
resolved?” 
 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
“It is hard to say when you need to borrow money when you have live capital projects. 
As part of their Financial Resilience Index CIPFA has produced data comparing the 
proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream to the Councils statistical nearest 
neighbours and North-East 12 neighbours. Stockton’s comparisons were shown in the 
2023/24 Capital Strategy report presented within the MTFP report back in February 
2023. These show that Stockton has the lowest cost of borrowing of the sample 

Page 16



authorities. We are careful when we need to borrow money and the reasons have to 
be valid.”  
 
The following question had submitted by Cllr Lynn Hall for response by the Cabinet 
Member for Health, Leisure and Culture (Cllr Steve Nelson):- 
  
"A robust Winter Plan is essential to benefit and safeguard our residents. 
 Does the leader consider this year's plan executed to date was prepared in a timely 
way; facilitated members involvement and the dissemination of new information and 
initiatives were effectively shared?" 
 
The Cabinet Member for Health, Leisure and Culture responded with:- 
 
“The Adults Health and Wellbeing Winter Planning update is presented annually in 
various forums, in conjunction with statutory partners and has been to the relevant 
scrutiny committees and through due process in accordance with Council governance. 
The Adults Health and Wellbeing Winter planning update in its most current and up to 
date format was considered at Executive Scrutiny Committee in January 2024. The 
planning update also went to December 2023 Adults Social Care and Health Scrutiny 
Committee. In November 2023 ICB colleagues came to Health and Wellbeing Board 
to give a Tees Valley Winter Planning update. The Winter Conference launches and 
informs System Wide Winter planning and this took place in September 2023. These 
plans are undertaken and delivered with system partners including Adults Health and 
Wellbeing. This is an operational plan which goes to the various forums for input by 
the various committees. 
The Adults Health and Wellbeing planning update is to ensure appropriate health and 
care responses are maintained at times of pressure. To date this winter any pressures 
being seen in our health and care system are being managed well. In addition to the 
Winter Planning update there are also NHS escalation processes which the Council 
Adult Social Care team and Public Health team support with as needed. We continue 
to work with our Health partners to ensure winter planning is undertaken as early as 
possible and implemented in a timely way.  This Winter Planning evolves, and 
changes as needed. 
 
The references in the report to gritting and flooding were for information only. CFYA 
has a separate Winter Service Operational Plan that covers operational issues such 
as gritting.  This Service Plan is supplemented by a Council Snow Plan.  There is also 
a council operational flood plan.” 
 
Cllr Lynn Hall asked the following supplementary question:- 
“I did specifically ask for this question to go to the Leader of the Council as the over-
arching Winter Plan covers all directorates. We need to provide the best possible 
service for our residents. With my first formal opportunity to discuss this year’s Plan 
was in January 2024, can I have assurances that the updated Winter Plan for this year 
will involve all Members at an early stage. The involvement will hopefully widen the 
focus and improve health outcomes and work with partnerships across all directorates. 
Road matters and flood concerns are also important for our residents. The Winter 
Maintenance Plan is part of the overall Plan. It will also help us along the 
transformation journey. We are currently replacing potholes. All Councillors need to be 
involved. Can I ask if you are going to allow input at an earlier stage?”   
 
The Cabinet Member for Health, Leisure and Culture responded with:- 

Page 17



“I think Cllr Hall maybe getting confused with the different plans. I’m involved with the 
Adults Health and Wellbeing Plan which is around Health and Wellbeing issues. The 
Plan went to various committees including the Health and Wellbeing Board where you 
were at when the presentation was given.  The Director of Public Health was trying to 
be helpful by including gritting and flooding, those elements can be found in other 
plans and updates. This Plan starts in February and is worked at with partners and 
other committees. There is no decision associated with this Plan. To avoid confusion 
the Plan will be renamed next year the Adults, Health and Wellbeing Winter Planning 
Update.” 
The following question was submitted by Cllr Tony Riordan for response by the Leader 
of the Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
  
"Can the Leader please inform me how many Corporate Credit Cards, and 
Procurement Cards, are available to officers and staff on Stockton Borough Council, 
what is the maximum authorised spending limit on these cards, and can he offer the 
taxpayers of Stockton Borough reassurance that strong governance is in place to 
monitor and review the use of these cards?" 
 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
 
“There are currently 105 corporate credit cards in operation used by officers for one off 
purchases.  
  
The maximum authorisation spending limit differs from card to card and is based on 
the type of purchases the officer will be authorised to make via the card. The standard 
limit ranges from between £500 - £2000 per month. Any cardholder requiring a higher 
limit is by exception and specific justification.   
  
At the point of requesting a card the officer needs to complete an application pack 
which contains a Corporate Credit Cardholder Manual which provides a detailed 
overview of how the cards should be used and reminding them that improper use 
could lead to suspension of the card and / or disciplinary action. The Internal Audit 
team carry out random checks of card activity to ensure proper usage.   
  
Users are required to sign an Employee Agreement which outlines the terms and 
conditions they will be required to comply with regarding card usage. This includes a 
requirement to only use the card for business purposes, to keep appropriate records 
and ensure that VAT invoices and receipts are uploaded into the bank’s card system 
in a timely manner, to report lost or stolen cards etc. The card holder’s Line Manager 
is required to confirm and approve all expenditure.” 
 
 
The following question was submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration & Housing (Cllr Nigel Cooke):- 
  
"Residents of new houses on The Rings are now having to pay an annual fee to a 
management company. 
 
The management company for Permission on the Rings is Gateway. 
 
Since being elected on the new North Ward I have received a large number of 
complaints, these include the poor service from Gateway, late payment fees if the 

Page 18



maintenance fee is not paid on time, but the main complaint is that when they received 
their bill almost 90% of the bill is down to "Admin expenses ". 
 
After 3 years residents can elect their own directors, but must employ a management 
company. 
 
I believe that SBC could provide this service a lot cheaper than residents are paying 
now. 
 
I do not believe this would cost council taxpayers a penny and SBC could make a 
profit whilst reducing the price these residents are currently paying. 
 
Would SBC look into the possibility of providing this service. There are of course  
numerous new build estates across the Borough in the same situation. This is not a 
problem unique to Ingleby Barwick?" 
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Housing responded with:- 
 
“I understand how this issue impacts on residents across the Borough. On 
construction of a new development, the developer has a choice whether to offer the 
land for adoption by the Council or to keep the land private and employ a 
management company to maintain the land.  The Management Company can charge 
the residents a fee for this, which would be written into their deeds, when purchasing 
their property. Unfortunately, the Council cannot influence the developer’s decision.  
Should a developer wish to offer their land for adoption, then this would be considered 
by the Council, subject to the land being transferred to the Council, all works being up 
to an adoptable standard and the payment of a commuted lump sum for future 
maintenance.” 
 
Cllr Ted Strike asked the following supplementary question:- 
 
“Since being elected myself and the other ward councillors met with the officers who 
explained all this we then gate-crashed a meeting with Gateway where we were told 
that we were not welcome. The residents can after 3 years form their own directorship 
and they are entitled to employ their own management company. The question is 
could Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council look into being a management company?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Housing responded with:- 
 
“Whilst I understand the sentiment behand the question and the high feelings there 
are a lot of barriers between what he is suggesting. If Cllr Strike would like greater 
clarification on the procedures and protocols I happy for officers to provide that. It is 
essentially private land, the only way forward would be for the developer of that land to 
actually approach the Council for adoption. Clearly the Council would have to be 
happy that the land is up to the standard where we would want to adopt the land. 
There would need to be a commuted sum for maintenance.” 
 
 
The following question was submitted by Cllr Niall Innes for response by the Leader of 
the Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
  
"Can the Leader of the Council inform me what the internal process the council uses 
to price repair/maintenance/project work?" 

Page 19



 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
 
The potential range of assets implied by the question is very wide, including highways 
infrastructure, schools, urgent safety works etc.  
 
In an attempt to answer this question we have focused on the small scale works that 
are typically requested at Ward level and may be funded through the Members Ward 
budgets. Officers have indicated that they are happy to discuss the technical process 
and context for larger schemes directly with Cllr Innes if required.  
 
In relation to the small-scale work, including play areas, bins, benches and other street 
furniture, estimates for maintenance are produced on a case-by-case basis, but 
informed by costs for comparable assets we already maintain. We calculate future 
anticipated costs using a comprehensive schedule of rates for repair or replacement, 
these schedules encompass a range of factors including labour, materials, plant, 
traffic management and supervision.  
 
However, it should be noted that small items integrated into a setting which is already 
subject to an inspection and maintenance regime, will in practice be incorporated into 
a programme for that site. For any anticipated material, equipment or specialist 
contractor input, we follow Council procurement procedures.” 
 
Councillor Niall Innes asked the following supplementary question:- 
 
“Can the Leader tell me why there seems to be an inflating of the prices that we are 
quoted for having works done that come out of our budget?” 
 
The Leader of the Council responded with:- 
 
“One of the issues that the Council faces is that as a Council we need to make sure 
that any works that are done are up to standard and that nobody is injured and 
therefore it is difficult as everything we put in has to be maintained.”  
 
 
The following question was submitted by Cllr Stefan Houghton for response by the 
Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Housing (Cllr Nigel Cooke):- 
  
"In addition to the successful Stockton South Levelling Up bid, finance was obtained 
by re-purposing section 106 funds to improve the popular play area at Preston Park. 
These improvements have been delayed, most recently by the larger capital 
programme.  
 
As the years have passed since these funds were obtained to improve the play area, I 
would welcome an update for my benefit and all members whose residents will 
eventually have the opportunity to enjoy this completed project?" 
 
 
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Housing responded with:- 
 
“The section 106 funding to which Cllr Houghton refers is approximately £90,000. The 
cost for renewing the play area in Preston Park, removing equipment that is now close 

Page 20



to the end of its safe life and replacing it with features of a similar scale and type, has 
been estimated to be £350,000.  
Officers have been working to try to identify the additional resource required to 
redevelop the play area but have not yet been able to secure the funds required. 
Officers are now planning to phase the work, undertaking initial work that utilises the 
106 resource to coincide with the work being funded by the LUF grant for south 
Stockton.  
 
It is not the case that the current capital programme has delayed efforts to complete 
works on the play area.” 
 

COU/85/23 Forward Plan and Leader’s Statement 
 
The Leader of the Council gave his Forward Plan and Leaders Statement. 
 
The last Council meeting was held on the 22 November last year. Since then Cabinet 
met on the 14 December and 18 January and considered the following matters:- 
 
• Financial Update and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
 
• 0-19 Children's Public Health Programme: Partnership with Harrogate & District 
Foundation Trust 
 
• 2023 Event Summary and 2024 Memorial Lighting Calendar 
 
• Lived Experience and Making It Real Board  
 
• Annual Report of the Governing Body for the Learning & Skills Service  
 
• Governor Appointments 
 
• Powering Our Future - Programme Update 
 
• Local Plan 5 Year Review and Consent Street Trading Policy Review 
 
Cabinet would next meet on the 12 February MTFP followed by a further meeting on 
15 February and consider:- 
 
• Annual Report ISAG 
 
• Environmental Sustainability & Carbon Reduction Strategy 2022-32 Monitoring 
Report 
  
• School Performance 2022 - 2023 for Vulnerable Pupils  
 
• Procedure for Admission of Pupils to Primary and Secondary Schools in September 
2025 
 
• Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education Constitution 
 
• Scrutiny Review of Domestic Waste Collections, Kerbside Recycling and Green 
Waste 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



COUNCIL 
 
A meeting of Council was held on Wednesday 21 February 2024. 
 
Present: 
 

The Worshipful the Mayor (Cllr Jim Beall), Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr 
Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc Besford, Cllr Carol 
Clark, Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, 
Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Richard Eglington, Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin 
Faulks, Cllr Jason French, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare Gamble, Cllr 
John Gardner, Cllr Ray Godwin, Cllr Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, 
Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr 
Niall Innes, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Mick 
Moore, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Stephen 
Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Susan Scott, 
Cllr Vanessa Sewell, Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, 
Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Emily 
Tate, Cllr Laura Tunney, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Hilary Vickers, Cllr 
Marcus Vickers, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr Alan Watson, Cllr Sally 
Ann Watson, Cllr Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr Barry 
Woodhouse. 
 

Officers: 
 

Mike Greene (CE), Garry Cummings (DCE&F,T&P), Reuben Kench 
(DoCS,E&C), Carolyn Nice (A,H&W), Peter Bell, Julie Butcher, Ged 
Morton and Marc Cole (R&IG). 
 

Also in 
attendance: 
 

Members of the Public.   

Apologies: 
 

Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Cllr Dan Fagan, Cllr Shakeel Hussain, Cllr Sufi 
Mubeen, Cllr David Reynard and Cllr Andrew Sherris. 
 

 
COU/86/23 Welcome 

 
The Worshipful the Mayor welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the 
arrangements for the meeting. 
 

COU/87/23 Declarations of Interest 
 
The meeting was advised that each Member had been granted a dispensation for a 4-
year period in respect of all decisions relating to the setting of the Council Tax and 
precepts and Members Allowances and did not need to individually declare those 
interests. 
 

COU/88/23 Medium Term Financial Plan 
 
Consideration was given to the final report in setting the Council’s 2024/25 Budget and 
Council Tax and outlining the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) position to 2027. 
The report also included an update on the financial performance for 2023/24. 
 
The report outlined the budget for 2024/25 and indicative MTFP for future years. The 
provisional finance settlement was received on 19 December 2023 and this indicated 
the funding for 2024/25, with the final allocations to be confirmed in February. In order 

Page 23



to prepare a Medium Term Financial Plan, assumptions had been made in respect of 
future years. However, this funding was extremely uncertain and subject to future 
Government spending reviews.   
 
The Report outlined a budget pressure rising to £9m by 2026/27 and the 
transformation programme which had previously been reported to Cabinet would be 
key to addressing this gap. 
 
The Powering Our Future Programme, including a planned approach to 
Transformation (reported to Cabinet in January 2024) would be crucial in delivering 
savings as well as service improvements to resolve the gap. It ensured that the 
Council had a clear plan to address the financial challenges faced, at the same time 
as improving outcomes for communities. Although the Council could no longer afford 
to meet the needs of the Borough’s residents in the way the Council had in the past, 
the Council was confident it could work with partners and communities to put in place 
new and innovative approaches that would not only save money, but also reshape 
what the Council did, in the best interests of the Borough’s residents. 
 
The MTFP report for 2024/25 to 2026/27 was attached to the report. 
 
The report also provided an update on the financial position for 2023/24. As reported 
previously, inflationary pressures were having a significant impact upon the financial 
position in 2023/24. The Council continued to see increased costs in maintaining vital 
services.   
 
The Report outlined the Council Tax proposals and Budget for 2024/25 and the 
indicative MTFP for the next two years. 
 
It provided an update on the position from that reported to Cabinet and Council in 
February 2023 and in particular reflected implications arising from the Local 
Government Finance Settlement for 2024/25. 
 
The Provisional Financial Settlement had provided funding allocations for 2024/25 
only. The period from 2025/26 and beyond was very uncertain, with no information 
announced on this period, therefore the projections for this period needed to be 
treated with some caution. 
 
The Council had a long history of providing value for money and delivering strong 
financial management. This had again been reinforced by the External Auditor in the 
Independent Auditors Annual Report on the 2021/22 accounts which was issued in 
December 2023.The auditors had issued an unqualified audit opinion on the 2021/22 
financial statements and did not identify any significant weaknesses or 
recommendations in relation to value for money arrangements. 
       
Section 25 of the Local Government Finance Act 2003 required that when a local 
authority was agreeing its annual budget and setting its Council Tax, the Chief 
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) must report to it on the following matters: 
 
• The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the Council Tax 
requirement calculations 
 
• The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves 
 

Page 24



The Council was required to have due regard to this report when making decisions on 
the budget. 
 
Moved by Cllr Bob Cook, seconded by Cllr Lisa Evans:- 
 
1. That in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, Members note that the 
Section 151 Officer confirms that the following recommendations: 
 
a) represent a robust budget which has been prepared in line with best practice; 
 
b) provide adequate working balances; 
 
c) that the controlled reserves and provisions are adequate for their purpose. 
 
General Fund Budget 
 
2. A 2024/25 Council Tax requirement for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council of 
£115,873,657 be approved. 
 
3. A 2024/25 Council Tax requirement for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council inclusive 
of Parish Precepts £116,878,570 be approved. 
 
4. The 2024/25 budget and indicative 2024/27 MTFP as outlined in paragraphs 25 – 
56 of the report, the level of General Fund Balances and the release of reserves to 
balance the 2023/24 in year financial position as set out in paragraphs 19-24 of the 
report be approved.  
 
Taxation 
 
SBC 
 
5. The Council Tax for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council prior to Parish, Fire and 
Police Precepts be increased by 4.95%, which includes the Government Levy of 2% in 
respect of Social Care i.e. to £1,942.81 at Band D (£1,295.21 at Band A) be approved. 
 
Fire, Police & Parish 
  
6. The Police & Crime Commissioner is proposing a precept of £18,115,156 which 
equates to a Council Tax of £303.73 at Band D (£202.49 at Band A) be noted. 
 
7. The Fire Authority is proposing a precept of £5,335,600 which equates to a Council 
Tax of £89.46 at Band D (£59.64 at Band A) be noted. 
 
8. The Parish precepts as set out in paragraph 80 of the budget report be noted. 
 
Capital 
 
9. The Capital Programme attached at Appendix A & B be approved.  
 
Organisational and HR 
 
10. The Pay Policy Statement including the pay and grading structure at Appendix C 
and C(1) be approved. 

Page 25



 
Members Allowances 
 
11. Members allowances be frozen for 2024/25.  This will mean that these allowances 
have been frozen since 2013/14.  
 
Council Tax - Statutory Requirements 
 
12. The statutory requirements for Council Tax as shown in Appendix D be approved 
 
13. The Council must set its Local Council Tax Reduction scheme annually by 11 
March of the preceding financial year. Cabinet therefore recommends to Council that 
the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is retained for the financial year 
2024/25 incorporating the updates for the prescribed requirements in regulations and 
to reflect updated income figures in the table at Schedule 1. The scheme is available 
here www.stockton.gov.uk/CTR.  
 
14. That the Director of Finance, Transformation and Performance and Deputy Chief 
Executive be given delegated authority, in consultation with the Leader, to make 
further adjustments to the income table and/or disregard additional funds should the 
government issue revised publications with regards to these matters after 21st 
February to ensure that Government’s intentions for additional support is maintained.  
 
15. That the definition of long-term empty properties be amended to include properties 
empty and unfurnished for a period of one year or more and that the following 
additional Council Tax premiums be applied from 1 April 2024 onwards: 
• 100% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of between 1 and up to 5 years; 
 
• 200% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of between 5 and up to 10 years; and 
 
• 300% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of 10 years or more. 
 
16. That notice be given that a 100% council tax premium is applied to properties 
substantially furnished with no permanent resident with effect from 1 April 2025. 
 
Capital Strategy 
 
17. The Capital Strategy as set out at Appendix E to the report, including the Flexible 
Use of Capital Receipts Policy, the MRP Strategy and the Capital Programme 
Management Arrangements be approved. 
 
Treasury Management/Prudential Code 
 
18. The Treasury Management Strategy as set out in Appendix F to the report be 
approved.   
 
Investment Strategy 
 
19. The Investment Strategy as set out at Appendix G to the report be approved. 
 

Page 26



At its meeting held on 13 February 2024 Cabinet RESOLVED that:- 
 
20. The Officer Appointments to outside bodies and governing bodies at Appendix 
C(1) be approved and noted. 
 
A motion was moved by Councillor Niall Innes, seconded by Councillor Tony Riordan, 
that the substantive motion be amended as follows:- 
 
Additional Recommendation:- 
 
1. Generate an annual saving of £28,125 from reductions in members allowances 
outlined below.  
 
2. Utilise the savings generated to fund civic enforcement equipment. 
 
Detail 
 
3. Remove Vice Chairs Special Responsibility Allowance and this would generate a 
saving of £28,125. 
 
4. In the first year of savings, to fund the purchasing of a CCTV vehicle to support 
Civic Enforcement in relation to school parking issues around the borough, staffed by 
the existing Civic Enforcement team. In the following years use the saving to fund the 
running costs of the vehicle and the remainder used to enhance staffing within the 
Civic Enforcement Team. 
 
Following a debate a recorded vote then took place on the amendment to the 
substantive motion. 
 
For the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Jason French, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr 
Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Niall Innes,  
Cllr Stephen Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Susan Scott, Cllr Vanessa Sewell, 
Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Laura Tunney, Cllr Hilary 
Vickers, Cllr Marcus Vickers, Cllr Alan Watson and Cllr Sally Ann Watson. (21) 
 
Against the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr Jim Beall, Cllr Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc 
Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, Cllr Richard Eglington, 
Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare Gamble, Cllr Barbara 
Inman, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross 
Patterson, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr 
Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr 
Barry Woodhouse. (26) 
 
Abstentions:- 
 
Cllr Ray Godwin, Cllr Mick Moore and Cllr Ted Strike. (3) 
 
The amendment was not carried. 
 

Page 27



A motion was moved by Councillor Niall Innes, seconded by Councillor Tony Riordan, 
that the substantive motion be amended as follows:- 
 
Additional Recommendation 
 
1. Generate an annual saving of £372,000 through a further restructure of senior 
management, including abolishing the proposed Director of Regeneration position.  
 
2. Utilise the savings generated to fund new Civic Enforcement Officers and a 
Planning Officer. 
 
Detail 
 
1. Reduction of £372,000 from Senior management, including the removal of the 
proposed position of Director of Regeneration. In the first year the full savings will not 
be achieved due to lead in times and notice periods, however this is expected to be 
offset by the lead in time required to appoint to the new posts proposed below. 
 
2. Use the savings above to fund 9 new Civic Enforcement Officers at £37,000 each 
totalling £333,000, with £39,000 used to employ 1 Planning Officers. The larger Civic 
Enforcement Team will also make use of a base in Ingleby Barwick, within existing 
Council Buildings, with the potential to share accommodation with other public bodies. 
 
Following a debate a recorded vote then took place on the amendment to the 
substantive motion. 
 
For the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Jason French, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr 
Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Niall Innes,  
Cllr Stephen Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Susan Scott, Cllr Vanessa Sewell, 
Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Laura Tunney, 
Cllr Hilary Vickers, Cllr Marcus Vickers, Cllr Alan Watson and Cllr Sally Ann Watson. 
(22) 
 
Against the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr Jim Beall, Cllr Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc 
Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, Cllr Richard Eglington, 
Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare Gamble, Cllr Ray 
Godwin, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Mick 
Moore, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Norma 
Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr 
Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr Barry Woodhouse. (28) 
 
The amendment was not carried. 
 
A motion was moved by Councillor Niall Innes, seconded by Councillor Tony Riordan, 
that the substantive motion be amended as follows:- 
 
Additional Recommendation 
 

Page 28



1. Generate annual savings of £33,000 from printing Council Papers as outlined 
below. 
 
2. Generate annual savings of £160,000 from the cost of communication and media 
support as outlined below. 
 
3. Generate annual savings of £62,000 from the cost of promotional printing as 
outlined below. 
 
4. To fund additional Civic Enforcement Officers, enhanced Youth Provision and a 
play park and an additional Planning Enforcement Officer from 2025/26. 
 
 
Detail 
 
1. Reduce level of committee paper printing in its entirety from £33,000 to £0 per year 
from 2024/25. 
 
2. The cost of communication and media support (Press and Comms team and 
photographer) be reduced by £160,000 from £260,000 per year. 
 
3. The level of promotional printing be reduced by £62,000 from £124,000 per year 
from 2024/25. This excludes the cost of Stockton News. 
 
4. Use the savings of £255,000 above to recruit 5 Civic Enforcement Officers at a cost 
of £37,000 each totalling £185,000, with £30,000 going to Youth Services and £40,000 
for a play park in Fairfield in year 1. 
 
In 2025/26 & 2026/27 the £40,000 per year will be used to recruit an additional 
Planning Enforcement Officer. 
 
Following a debate a recorded vote then took place on the amendment to the 
substantive motion. 
 
For the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Jason French, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr 
Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Niall Innes,  
Cllr Stephen Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Susan Scott, Cllr Vanessa Sewell, 
Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Laura Tunney, 
Cllr Hilary Vickers, Cllr Marcus Vickers, Cllr Alan Watson and Cllr Sally Ann Watson. 
(22) 
 
Against the amendment:- 
 
Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr Jim Beall, Cllr Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc 
Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, Cllr Richard Eglington, 
Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare Gamble, Cllr Ray 
Godwin, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Mick 
Moore, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Norma 
Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr 
Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr Barry Woodhouse. (28) 
 

Page 29



The amendment was not carried. 
 
Following a debate a recorded vote then took place on the substantive motion. 
 
For the substantive motion:- 
 
Cllr Stefan Barnes, Cllr Jim Beall, Cllr Pauline Beall, Cllr Michelle Bendelow, Cllr Marc 
Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Nigel Cooke, Cllr Robert Cook, Cllr Richard Eglington, 
Cllr Lisa Evans, Cllr Kevin Faulks, Cllr Nathan Gale, Cllr Clare Gamble, Cllr Ray 
Godwin, Cllr Barbara Inman, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Cllr Mick 
Moore, Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Ross Patterson, Cllr Paul Rowling, Cllr Norma 
Stephenson OBE, Cllr Mick Stoker, Cllr Marilyn Surtees, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley, Cllr 
Paul Weston, Cllr Katie Weston and Cllr Barry Woodhouse. (28) 
 
Against the substantive motion:- 
 
Cllr Diane Clarke OBE, Cllr John Coulson, Cllr Jason French, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr 
Alex Griffiths, Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Stefan Houghton, Cllr Niall Innes,  
Cllr Stephen Richardson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Susan Scott, Cllr Vanessa Sewell, 
Cllr Hugo Stratton, Cllr Ted Strike, Cllr Emily Tate, Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Laura Tunney, 
Cllr Hilary Vickers, Cllr Marcus Vickers, Cllr Alan Watson and Cllr Sally Ann Watson. 
(22) 
 
The substantive motion was carried. 
 
RESOLVED that:- 
 
1. That in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, Members note that the 
Section 151 Officer confirms that the following recommendations: 
 
a) represent a robust budget which has been prepared in line with best practice; 
 
b) provide adequate working balances; 
 
c) that the controlled reserves and provisions are adequate for their purpose. 
 
General Fund Budget 
 
2. A 2024/25 Council Tax requirement for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council of 
£115,873,657 be approved. 
 
3. A 2024/25 Council Tax requirement for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council inclusive 
of Parish Precepts £116,878,570 be approved. 
 
4. The 2024/25 budget and indicative 2024/27 MTFP as outlined in paragraphs 25 – 
56 of the report, the level of General Fund Balances and the release of reserves to 
balance the 2023/24 in year financial position as set out in paragraphs 19-24 of the 
report be approved.  
 
Taxation 
 
SBC 
 

Page 30



5. The Council Tax for Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council prior to Parish, Fire and 
Police Precepts be increased by 4.95%, which includes the Government Levy of 2% in 
respect of Social Care i.e. to £1,942.81 at Band D (£1,295.21 at Band A) be approved. 
 
Fire, Police & Parish 
  
6. The Police & Crime Commissioner is proposing a precept of £18,115,156 which 
equates to a Council Tax of £303.73 at Band D (£202.49 at Band A) be noted. 
 
7. The Fire Authority is proposing a precept of £5,335,600 which equates to a Council 
Tax of £89.46 at Band D (£59.64 at Band A) be noted. 
 
8. The Parish precepts as set out in paragraph 80 of the budget report be noted. 
 
Capital 
 
9. The Capital Programme attached at Appendix A & B be approved.  
 
Organisational and HR 
 
10. The Pay Policy Statement including the pay and grading structure at Appendix C 
and C(1) be approved. 
 
Members Allowances 
 
11. Members allowances be frozen for 2024/25.  This will mean that these allowances 
have been frozen since 2013/14.  
 
Council Tax - Statutory Requirements 
 
12. The statutory requirements for Council Tax as shown in Appendix D be approved 
 
13. The Council must set its Local Council Tax Reduction scheme annually by 11 
March of the preceding financial year. Cabinet therefore recommends to Council that 
the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is retained for the financial year 
2024/25 incorporating the updates for the prescribed requirements in regulations and 
to reflect updated income figures in the table at Schedule 1. The scheme is available 
here www.stockton.gov.uk/CTR.  
 
14. That the Director of Finance, Transformation and Performance and Deputy Chief 
Executive be given delegated authority, in consultation with the Leader, to make 
further adjustments to the income table and/or disregard additional funds should the 
government issue revised publications with regards to these matters after 21st 
February to ensure that Government’s intentions for additional support is maintained.  
 
15. That the definition of long-term empty properties be amended to include properties 
empty and unfurnished for a period of one year or more and that the following 
additional Council Tax premiums be applied from 1 April 2024 onwards: 
 
• 100% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of between 1 and up to 5 years; 
 

Page 31



• 200% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of between 5 and up to 10 years; and 
 
• 300% council tax premium for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for a 
period of 10 years or more. 
 
16. That notice be given that a 100% council tax premium is applied to properties 
substantially furnished with no permanent resident with effect from 1 April 2025. 
 
Capital Strategy 
 
17. The Capital Strategy as set out at Appendix E to the report, including the Flexible 
Use of Capital Receipts Policy, the MRP Strategy and the Capital Programme 
Management Arrangements be approved. 
 
Treasury Management/Prudential Code 
 
18. The Treasury Management Strategy as set out in Appendix F to the report be 
approved.   
 
Investment Strategy 
 
19. The Investment Strategy as set out at Appendix G to the report be approved. 
 
At its meeting held on 13 February 2024 Cabinet RESOLVED that:- 
 
20. The Officer Appointments to outside bodies and governing bodies at Appendix 
C(1) be approved and noted. 
 

Page 32



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 
QUESTION 

 

 
Public Question submitted by David Cooper for response by the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Transport (Cllr Clare Gamble):- 
 
“Does the council take the view that S72 of the 1835 Highway Act is no longer in force. 
(This relates to the edict from the council that parking on the pavement is permitted).” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

 
Public Question submitted by David Cooper for response by the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Transport (Cllr Clare Gamble):- 
 
“Given the decision of the council to permit drivers to park on pavements, what would its 
advice be to those teaching children how to be safe?” 
 
 

 

Page 34



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM     
     
 REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 20 MARCH 2024 
          

REPORT OF 
CORPORATE 
MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 

 
 
AMENDMENTS / APPOINTMENT FOR 2023/27  
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report presents an amendment to the Council’s Place Select Committee  
 
DETAIL 
 

Committee 
 

Remove Add 

Place Select Committee 
 

Cllr Shakeel Hussain Cllr Sufi Mubeen 

Outside Body 
 

  

NEREO N/A Cllr Jim Beall 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Council is recommended to agree the above change to its Place Select Committee. 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Seats must be allocated to political groups as prescribed by the Local Government 
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. 

 
CONSULTATION INCLUDING WARD/COUNCILLORS 
 
Consultation has taken place with political group leaders. 
 
Jonathan Nertney 
Head of Democratic Services 
jonathan.nertney@stockton.gov.uk 
Tel number 01642 526312 
 
Background Papers    None 
Education Related Item   No 
Ward(s) and Ward Councillors   All 
Property Implications  None 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6

mailto:jonathan.nertney@stockton.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
 

 
QUESTION 

 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the Cabinet Member for 
Access, Communities and Community Safety (Cllr Norma Stephenson):- 
  
"SBC are expanding their “Street Trading Consent “ to cover the whole borough as of 
the 1st March this year. Despite raising my concerns at a cabinet meeting and Full 
Council meeting as well as emailing licencing I have not had any explanation of what 
this involves. IBCP’s first market is April 13th and at the time of submitting this question 
I have had no clarification of what this new regulations entail. 
 
On Friday evening I received a call from the organiser of SirenFest who was concerned 
as she had been sent a link and was confused. She spoke to an officer from licencing 
who advised that the cost would be £100 for up to 20 traders. 
 
Having looked at this link can the cabinet member advise me: 
 
Is my understanding correct,  
 
1) That established markets are exempt? The Ingleby Community Market has been 
trading for 9 years, is that classed as an established market. 
2) Fairs are exempt. Does this include our well established Christmas Fair? 
3) Does the Family Fun weekend come under these rules?  
4) Are events that charge to attend exempt? 
 
If events that charge are exempt then why have SirenFest been advised they need to 
pay?   
 
Could I have some clarity please and can you forward me a copy of the response?" 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the Leader of the 
Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
 
“The bad debt (impairment) provision for council tax was £15.4m as at 31st March 
2023. £5.074m was released into the councils reserves at last month’s budget. I 
understand that the council must have a bad debt fund, but I believe there are no 
guidance on the amounts to be held for bad debt. 
 
The fact that we could release over £5m last month means that this fund could grow 
and grow, surely the council should set a minimum and maximum level of funding for 
this funding?” 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Marcus Vickers for response by the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Transport (Cllr Clare Gamble):- 
 
“Analysis of all the SBC data by the Wolviston Community speedwatch group 
discovered over 870 vehicles speeding through Wolviston Village in the space of one 
week, this would equate to over 45,000 speeding vehicles in the village every year. 
 
Will the Council review its policies and procedures in relation to traffic calming and 
speeding alongside the appropriate partners to look at keeping our communities safer.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Niall Innes for response by the Leader of the 
Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
 
“The Powering Our Future report states at Point 4, that we will have ‘Communities 
Powering our future’. Can the Leader inform me what actual steps are being taken to 
ensure our residents are driving the change rather than be passengers with no say?” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Ted Strike for response by the Leader of the 
Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
 
“Given the difficult financial situation the council are in would it not be prudent to form a 
cross party "Budget Committee" of one or two members of the Conservative Party, who 
have 26 members and a representative from the eight Independents to work with the 
Labour on a united budget? 
 
This would stop the unpleasant atmosphere that we saw last month as well as reducing 
significantly the time spent on the debates?” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUESTION 
 

Member Question submitted by Cllr Paul Weston for response by the Leader of the 
Council (Cllr Bob Cook):- 
 
“Could you please tell me how much the council tax support grant has been cut since 
Labour were last voted out?”   
  
Could you tell what that is in both cash terms and in real terms if that's possible?  
  
Specifically, can you tell me how much more would be in the budget if it was the same 
as 2010 plus inflation.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 42


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Council from the meetings which were held on 24 January and 21 February 2024
	21 Feb 24

	5 Public Question Time
	6 Amendments to Committee for 2023/27
	7 Members' Question Time

